
Contact:  Paul Mountford, Democratic Services  
Tel: 01270 686472 
E-Mail: paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk  

 

Cabinet Member for Environmental 
Services 

 

Agenda 
 

Date: Thursday, 25th November, 2010 
Time: 10.00 am 
Venue: Committee Suite 1,Westfields, Middlewich Road, Sandbach 

CW11 1HZ 
 
The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the foot of each report. 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any personal and/or 

prejudicial interests in any item on the agenda  
 

3. Public Speaking Time/Open Session   
 
 In accordance with Procedure Rules Nos.11 and 35 a period of 10 minutes is allocated for 

members of the public to address the meeting on any matter relevant to the work of the 
meeting. Individual members of the public may speak for up to 5 minutes but the Chairman 
will decide how the period of time allocated for public speaking will be apportioned where 
there are a number of speakers. Members of the public are not required to give notice to use 
this facility. However, as a matter of courtesy, a period of 24 hours’ notice is encouraged. 
 
Members of the public wishing to ask a question at the meeting should provide at least three 
clear working days’ notice in writing and should include the question with that notice. This will 
enable an informed answer to be given. 
 

4. Review of Towns and Villages  (Pages 1 - 16) 
 
 To consider the final report of a Task and Finish Group on its Review of Towns and Villages. 

 
(There are no Part 2 items) 
 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 
Cabinet Member For Environmental Services 
 
 
Date of Meeting: 

 
25th  November 2010 

Report of: Environment and Prosperity Scrutiny Committee 

Subject/Title: 
 

Review of Towns and Villages 
 

 
 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 This report encloses the final report of a Task and Finish Group on its Review 

of Towns and Villages 
 
2.0 Recommendation 
 
2.1 That the Cabinet Member for Environmental Services approve the 

recommendations outlined in the attached report. 
 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3.1 To progress the findings of the Task and Finish Group, in accordance with a 

request from the Cabinet Member to rank the towns and villages within 
Cheshire East. 

 
4.0 Wards Affected 
 
4.1      Wards covering the following towns and villages: 
 

Alderley, Alsager,  Audlum, Bollington, Congleton, Crewe, Disley, 
Haslington, Handforth, Holmes Chapel, Knutsford, Macclesfield, 
Middlewich, Nantwich, Poynton, Prestbury, Sandbach and Wilmslow. 

 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
 All Local Ward Councillors for the Towns and Villages highlighted above. 
 
6.0 Policy Implications including  

 
There are no policy implications associated with the attached report, however 
there may be implications resulting from subsequent decisions made by the 
Portfolio Holder. 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 4Page 1



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

7.0 Financial Implications  
 
 There are no financial implications associated with the attached report, 

however there may be implications resulting from subsequent decisions made 
by the Portfolio Holder 

 
8.0 Legal Implications  
 
 There are no legal implications associated with the attached report, however 

there may be implications resulting from subsequent decisions made by the 
Portfolio Holder 

 
9.0 Risk Management  
 
 Not known at this stage 
 
10.0 Background and Options 
 
10.1 At the request of the Cabinet Member for Environment, at its meeting 

held on 8 June 2010, the Environment and Prosperity Scrutiny 
Committee agreed to set up a Task and Finish Group to rank the towns 
and villages within Cheshire East, by criteria suggested by the Portfolio 
Holder and report back by October 2010. 
 

10.2 The Task and Finish Group considered socio economic factors and 
other factors such as facilities, retail, hospitality, business and travel for 
each of the towns and villages through a series of site visits, marked 
these out of 10 against set criteria and then formulated this information 
into a table. 
 

10.3 The report and recommendations of that Task and Finish Group are 
now attached for consideration. 

 
11.0 Access to Information 
 
          The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting 

the report writer: 
 

  Name: Katie Smith 
  Designation: Scrutiny Officer 

            Tel No: 01270 686465 
            Email: katie.smith@cheshireeast.gov.uk  

Page 2



Review of Towns and Villages within Cheshire East Report of the Task 
and Finish Group  

 
 

Contents 
 

1. Introduction 
2. Agreed Terms of Reference 
3. Methodology 
4. Evidence and Findings 
5. Recommendations 
6. Evidence received/background information 

 
Task and Finish Group Membership 
 
Councillor G Walton – Chairman 
Councillor B Dykes  
Councillor R Fletcher 
Councillor G Merry 
Councillor C Thorley 
 
 
Introduction  
 
At the request of the Cabinet Member for Environment, at its meeting held on 
8 June 2010, the Environment and Prosperity Scrutiny Committee agreed to 
set up a Task and Finish Group to rank the towns and villages within Cheshire 
East, by criteria suggested by the Portfolio Holder and report back by October 
2010. 
 
The Task and Finish Group considered socio economic factors and other 
factors such as facilities, retail, hospitality, business and travel for each of the 
towns and villages through a series of site visits, marked these out of 10 
against a set criteria (Appendix A) and then formulated this information into a 
table. 
 
When ranking the towns and villages, Members took into account issues such 
as weather conditions and school holidays when carrying out the visits. 
 
Agreed Terms of Reference 
 
To rank towns and villages by criteria, to ensure that, if parking charges are 
reviewed sometime in the future, comparable towns and villages are treated 
equally and a reasonable tariff is created. It was agreed that Members would 
not be making recommendations to the Portfolio Holder on parking charges. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



 
Methodology 
 
24 June 2010 Members met to agree the questionnaires to be completed 

by them when visiting towns and villages and then went 
onto visit Congleton, Alsager and Nantwich.Councillor 
Thwaite attended the visit to Congleton. 

7 July 2010   Members visited Audlem 
12 July 2010 Members visited Handforth, Wilmslow, Alderley Edge, 

Knutsford and Holmes Chapel. 
28 July 2010  Members visited Sandbach, Crewe and Middlewich 
6 August 2010 Members visited Macclesfield, Tytherington and Prestbury 
12 August 
2010 

Members visited Disley, Poynton and Bollington. Councillor 
Davenport attended the visit to Disley and Councillor West 
attended the visit to Poynton.  

24 August 
2010 

 Members met to discuss their findings from the visits and 
produced a table of rankings. 

6 September 
2010 

Members met to agree the rankings and discuss the final 
report. 

21 September 
2010 

Members met to approve the draft final report for 
submission to the Environment and Prosperity Scrutiny 
Committee. 

26 October 
2010 

Draft final report submitted to the Environment and 
Prosperity Scrutiny Committee for comment/approval 

 Draft report submitted to the Portfolio Holder for 
Environment 

 
 
 
Evidence and Findings 
 
Members visited each of the towns and villages in Cheshire East, which had 
Council owned car parks, to gain an understanding of the population, facilities, 
railway provisions, CCTV provisions, retail, food and drink provision, evening 
economy, ease of access to the centre, public transport provisions and 
parking availability and usage.  
 
Each of the issues highlighted above were marked out of 10 and added 
together giving a possible total of 100. The Group then agreed the following 
formula to rank the towns and villages from A to E and incorporated this 
information into a table attached at Appendix B. 
 

Score Rank 
81 - 100 A 
71 - 80 B 
51 - 70 C 
41 - 50 D 
0 - 40 E 

 
 
 

Page 4



 
Alderley Edge 
 
The population of Alderley Edge is 4710. There are adequate facilities for the 
size of the village with a central railway station and a frequent bus service. 
There is currently a by-pass under construction which is expected to reduce 
traffic considerably. It is hoped that this will improve access to the centre. 
 
The Group felt there was a good retail mix with plenty of food and drink 
provision and a good evening economy due to the number of bars and 
restaurants. There are 3 CCTV cameras to cover the village.  
 
There are 5 Borough Council run car parks offering a total of 181 spaces. The 
group visited Alderley Edge and found the long stay car parks to be around 
25% full. However, these were not in the centre of the village. There is a 
central short stay car park which was very well used and appeared to work 
well. There is also a free car park which was around 25% full; this car park is 
in poor condition and was not clearly sign posted. 
 
Alsager 
 
Alsager is a small town in the south east of the Borough with a population of 
12440. There are reasonable facilities for the size of the town and whilst there 
is a railway station, it is neither on a main line nor close to the town centre. 
There is however, a frequent bus service and the town is easy to access. 
 
The Group felt that there is a reasonable retail mix with good food and drink 
provisions and a limited evening economy. There are 6 CCTV cameras to 
cover the town. 
 
There are 4 Borough Council run car parks offering 403 spaces, which are 
currently free to use, one of which is too far out of the town to be used by 
shoppers (Fannys Croft). Fairview car park was around 60% full, however this 
increased during school opening and closing times.  
 
It was noted that there was a car park close to the Council’s depot which 
required further investigation as to who owned it. This car park is in poor 
condition and has poor access. 
 
Audlem 
 
Audlem is a small village with a population of 1940. There are limited facilities 
for the village as it does not have a railway station and the bus service is 
limited. It is not easy to access. 
 
The Group felt that there were limited retail facilities but the food and drink 
provisions were good for the size of the village. There are no CCTV cameras. 
 
There is 1 Borough Council run car park offering 59 spaces, which is free to 
use and in good condition and central to the village. Members agreed that due 

Page 5



to size of the village and car park, it would not be viable to charge for car 
parking in the foreseeable future. 
 
Bollington 
 
The population of Bollington is 7400. There are average facilities in the town 
and it is easy to access. Bollington does not have a railway station although 
the bus service is frequent.  
 
The Group felt that that Bollington has below average retail facilities for its 
size, however it is close to the facilities in Macclesfield.  There are good food 
and drink provisions and a good evening economy. There are no CCTV 
cameras. 
 
There is 1 main Borough Council run car park in Bollington offering 71 free 
spaces which is well used. There is also a civic centre car park and several 
car parks catering for the open space facilities such as the Middlewood Way 
and Adlington Road Recreation Ground. All the car parks were in good 
condition. 
 
Congleton 
 
To assist Members in their deliberations Councillor A Thwaite attended the 
tour of Congleton. 
 
Congleton is a large market town with a population of 26530. Whilst it has 
good facilities, the railway is out of town with an irregular service, despite it 
being on a main line. Having said this, there is a good bus service and on the 
whole, the town is easy to access. 
 
The Group felt that Congleton has a good retail mix with good food and drink 
provisions and an average evening economy. Planning permission has 
recently been approved for the redevelopment of the Bridestone area which 
will increase the town’s attractiveness. There are currently 8 CCTV cameras 
to cover the town. 
 
There are 14 Borough Council run car parks in Congleton providing a total of 
799 spaces. The charging system in the car parks appeared to be working 
well and the car parks were in good condition. 
 
Crewe 
 
With a population of 50600, Crewe is the largest town in Cheshire East. 
Crewe is the primary shopping centre in the south of the Borough and there 
are excellent facilities, including a well positioned railway which allows access 
to the West Coast main line. Additionally, there is a good bus service but this 
could be improved to make access to the town centre easier. 
 
The group felt that Crewe had excellent retail facilities and good food and 
drink provision. Having said this, there was feeling that the evening economy 
could be improved. There are 48 CCTV cameras to cover the town. 

Page 6



 
There are 32 Borough Council run car parks in Crewe offering 2643 spaces. It 
was noted that some of those car parks were currently free to use and that 
due to the size of them it would not be feasible to charge for them in the 
future. Members also agreed that a maximum stay of 20 minutes was not long 
enough and the possibility of increasing this should be investigated. 
 
With regard to Thomas Street car park, Members noted that the car park was 
virtually empty. It was highlighted to the group that parking charges had 
recently been introduced and that this had caused displacement. Members 
agreed that the charging policy for this car park should be reviewed. 
 
Disley 
 
To assist Members in their deliberations, Councillor H Davenport attended the 
tour of Disley. 
 
The population of Disley is 4210 and whilst there are limited facilities, the 
railway station is well positioned. There is a good bus service and the centre 
of Disley is reasonably easy to access. 
 
The Group felt that there were limited retail facilities with good food and drink 
provisions and a limited evening economy. There are 3 CCTV cameras and 
Members agreed that additional CCTV cameras were required around the 
railway station to encourage more people to use the car park and facilities. 
 
There are 2 Borough run car parks offering 60 free spaces. It was noted that 
the parking restrictions are not being enforced by the Borough Council and 
therefore people are parking beyond the maximum waiting time.  
 
With regard to the conveniently located Community Centre car park, Members 
agreed that this needed remarking. Indeed, Councillor H Davenport 
suggested that the possibility of introducing parking charges should be 
investigated. 
 
There is also a car park privately owned by the Rams Head Public House, 
which members of the public are currently permitted to use, however, this on 
occasions, was causing problems for the proprietor. Members agreed that a 
number of options should be investigated including the possibility of the 
Borough Council purchasing part of the car park, the proprietor introducing 
parking charges or the Borough Council managing the car park on behalf of 
the proprietor. 
 
Haslington 
 
The population of Haslington is 6670; there are limited facilities and although 
it does not have a railway station and there is a good bus service which 
makes it reasonably easy to access. There are no CCTV cameras.  
 
The retail facilities in Haslington are limited along with food and drink 
provisions and the evening economy.  

Page 7



 
There is 1 free Borough Council run car park offering 15 spaces, which is in 
good condition. Due to the size of the village and car park, Members agreed 
that it would not be viable to introduce parking charges in the future. 
 
Handforth 
 
Handforth is a suburban area on the northern edge of Cheshire East with a 
population of 8014. There are average facilities, a well positioned railway 
station and a good bus service. It is easy to access. 
 
There are adequate retail and food and drink provisions and a limited evening 
economy. There are 3 CCTV cameras to cover the area. 
 
There are 2 Borough Council run car parks offering 102 spaces. There are 
also two privately owned car parks which require marking if they are to be 
used by the public. Members agreed that, if required, the possibility of them 
being managed by the Borough Council should be investigated. It was also 
agreed that the car park at the Paddock required managing and one of the car 
parks required maintenance work. 
 
Holmes Chapel 
 
Holmes Chapel has a population of 5780; there is an average provision of 
facilities; a good railway station/service and is easy to access. 
 
There are adequate retail and food and drink provisions and a limited evening 
economy. There are 3 CCTV cameras. 
 
There are 2 Borough run car parks offering 47 free car parking spaces, which 
are well marked and appear to work well.  Due to the size of the car parks, 
Members agreed that it would not be viable to introduce parking charges in 
the foreseeable future. However the car parks did require managing.  
 
 
Knutsford 
 
Lying in the north east of the Borough some 19km to the south west of 
Manchester and 18km north west of Macclesfield, Knutsford has a population 
of 12650. It is easy to access with excellent facilities. There is a good railway 
station/service and a good bus service. 
 
There are excellent retail facilities, food and drink provisions and evening 
economy. There are 14 CCTV cameras to cover the town. 
 
There are 6 Borough Council run car parks, which are all well marked and 
work well. Members agreed that Booths car park, which is owned by the 
supermarket and managed by the Borough Council, is an excellent example 
of joint working. 
 
 

Page 8



Macclesfield 
 
With a population of 50470, Macclesfield is the second largest town in 
Cheshire East. Easy to access, it has good facilities, an excellent railway 
station/service and an excellent bus service. 
 
There are good retail facilities, excellent food and drink provisions and 
evening economy. There are 78 CCTV cameras. 
 
There are 19 Borough Council run car parks, which are well maintained and 
work well. There are proposals for the redevelopment of the town centre for 
some time in the future. 
 
Middlewich 
 
A market town with a population of 13450, Middlewich, whilst being easy to 
access has a limited provision of facilities. For instance, although there is no 
railway station, there is a bus service. There are 5 CCTV cameras. 
 
The Group felt that there were adequate retail and food and drink provision 
with a limited evening economy. There are 5 CCTV cameras. 
 
There are 3 car parks in Middlewich offering 133 free car parking spaces. 
Members noted that one of the car parks was not well used and agreed that if 
parking charges were to be introduced. Tesco car park would also need to be 
taken into consideration albeit there is an approved scheme to increase the 
size of the Tesco store which may have an effect on the parking availability. 
However the Group felt that it would not be viable to charge for parking in the 
foreseeable future. 
 
Nantwich 
 
The population of Nantwich is 14100. A thriving service centre, Nantwich has 
an excellent provision of facilities; with a good railway station/service and bus 
service. The town centre is easy to access.  
 
The group felt that there is excellent retail, food and drink provision and 
evening economy. There are 15 CCTV cameras 
 
There are 10 car parks in Nantwich offering 750 spaces, the car parks were 
well used and well maintained. 
 
Poynton 
 
To assist Members in their deliberation Councillor R West attended the tour of 
Poynton. 
 
Poynton, with a population of 14360, is in the north eastern corner of the 
Borough. There are above average facilities with a good railway 
station/service and a good bus service. The centre is easy to access. 
 

Page 9



The group felt that there are adequate retail, food and drink provisions and 
evening economy. There are 6 CCTV cameras.  
 
There is one Borough Council run car park in Poynton currently offering 204 
free short stay spaces. This car park is slightly unusual in that it is also shared 
between a doctors, Waitrose supermarket, Church and residential home. The 
car park is in good condition and is well used. Members agreed that if parking 
charges were to be considered the legal rights of the above agencies would 
need to be investigated and addressed. 
 
Prestbury 
 
Prestbury has a population of 3290 and has a limited provision of facilities; it 
has a well positioned railway station and a bus service. Prestbury is 
reasonably easy to access. 
 
The group felt that there is limited retail provision with good food and drink 
provisions and evening economy. There are no CCTV cameras. 
 
There are two car parks in Prestbury offering 122 free parking spaces; the car 
parks were well maintained, reasonably well used and in convenient locations. 
 
Sandbach 
 
Sandbach is a market town with a population of 17840. It has a limited 
provision of facilities, a railway station which is out of the town centre and a 
good bus service. The town is easy to access. There are 5 CCTV cameras. 
 
There is an average provision of retail facilities, good food and drink 
provisions and a good evening economy. 
 
There are 8 car parks offering 487 free parking spaces. Members agreed that 
while there were generally ample parking spaces there were problems on 
market day due to the market being held on the Scotch Common car park. It 
was also agreed that Scotch Common required a maximum waiting time of 2 
hours. 
 
Tytherington 
 
The Group agreed that as Tytherington was not a town or village and it did not 
have a Council owned car park, it should not be included within this review. 
 
Wilmslow 
 
Easy to access, Wilmslow has a population of 30020. It has a good provision 
of facilities, an excellent railway station/line and good bus service. There are 
62 CCTV cameras.  
 
The Group felt that it has excellent retail facilities; food and drink provisions 
and evening economy.  
 

Page 10



There are 8 Borough run car parks offering 1239 spaces. The Group visited 
Wilmslow on a wet day and found most of the car parks to be well used. 
However the car park on Spring Street was virtually empty apart from the 
sections managed by Emersons which were in a disgusting state and 
Members agreed that action should be taken to address this issue. 
 
Recommendations 
 

1. That the rankings of towns and villages identified at Appendix B be 
approved. 

2. That any future decisions made by the Portfolio Holder should be in 
line with the Cheshire East Council Parking Strategy. 

3. That when car parking is reviewed in the future, consideration be given 
to the following observations: 

 
• That the parking charges on Thomas Street car park in Crewe 

be reviewed. 
• That the parking restrictions in Disley be enforced on a regular 

basis. 
• That the possibility of charging for parking in Disley be 

investigated. 
• That a solution to the parking problems on the Rams Head 

public house car park be sought. 
• That the possibility of the Borough Council managing the 

privately owned car parks in Handforth be investigated. 
• That the car park at the Paddock in Handforth have a maximum 

waiting time, which must be enforced. 
• That due to the size of the car parks Audlem, Haslington, 

Holmes Chapel and Middlewich, parking charges should not be 
implemented. 

• That the working arrangements for the Booths supermarket car 
park in Knutsford be used as an example of good practice. 

• That the legal issues regarding the car park in Poynton be 
investigated. 

• That action be taken to increase the usage and cleanliness of 
Spring Street car park in Wilmslow. 

 
Evidence Received/Background Information 
 

• Information on the Borough owned car parks including number of 
spaces and current tariffs 

• Information on the number and location of CCTV within the Borough 
• Information on the current employment levels 
• Information on the population of towns and villages within the Borough 
• Economic information for the towns and villages. 

 
 
 
 

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

Criteria for Towns and Villages 
 
Socio – Economic 
 
Population  
Unemployment levels 
Urban/rural 
 
Facilities 
 
Local secondary schools 
Cultural 
Library 
Leisure Centres 
Youth centres 
Railway station/main line 
CCTV 
 
Hospitality 
 
Trade 
Restaurant numbers/fast food outlets 
Night time economy 
 
Travel 
 
Public transport 
Personal transport 
Traffic flows 
 
The group also considered issues such as whether or not the town/village was 
a tourist destination, dormitory town or market town. 
 
 
 

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B
TOWN POPULATION UNEMPLOYMEN

T LEVELS as at 
Oct 09 (%)      

FACILITIES RAILWAY CCTV RETAIL FOOD AND DRINK 
PROVISION

NIGHT TIME 
ECONOMY

EASE OF ACCESS PUBLIC TRANSPORT NUMBER OF 
SPACES ON 

CHESHIRE EAST  
CAR PARKS

TOTAL RANK

CREWE (50600) 10 5 10 10 (48) 6 10 8 6 5 9 (2643) 10 86 A
MACCLESFIELD (50470) 10 3.5 8 10 (78) 10 8 10 8 8 9 (2166) 9 90 A
WILMSLOW (30020) 6 2.5 7 10 (62) 8 9 10 8 9 8 (1239) 6 81 A
NANTWICH (14100) 2 2.6 9 8 (15) 5 9 10 8 9 8 (750) 4 72 B
KNUTSFORD (12650) 2 2.7 10 8 (14) 5 9 10 9 8 8 (635) 4 73 B
CONGLETON (26350) 5 3.2 7 7 (8) 3 7 8 6 7 7 (799) 4 61 C
SANDBACH (17840) 3 3.1 5 7 (5) 3 6 8 7 9 8 (487) 3 59 C
POYNTON (14360) 2 2 7 8 (6) 3 6 7 6 7 7 (204) 2 55 C
ALDERLEY (4710) 1 1.4 6 8 (3) 2 6 7 8 8 7 (181) 2 55 C
MIDDLEWICH (13450) 2 3.1 5 0 (5) 3 6 7 3 5 4 (133) 2 37 D
ALSAGER (12440) 2 2.6 5 7 (6) 3 5 7 3 8 7 (403) 3 50 D
HANDFORTH (8014) 1 3.5 5 8 (3) 2 6 6 4 8 8 (102) 1 49 D
BOLLINGTON (7400) 1 3.5 6 0 (0) 0 4 6 8 7 4 (71) 1 37 D
HOLMES CHAPEL (5780) 1 1.3 5 8 (3) 2 5 7 4 8 6 (47) 1 47 D
DISLEY (4210) 1 2.1 4 7 (3) 2 4 6 4 6 7 (60) 1 42 D
PRESTBURY (3290) 1 1.1 4 7 (0) 0 3 7 7 5 7 (122) 2 42 D
HASLINGTON (6670) 1 1.8 2 0 (0) 0 3 2 2 8 4 (15) 1 23 E
AUDLEM (1940) 0 1.7 2 0 (0) 0 4 7 6 7 4 (59) 1 31 E

The above criteria have 
been scored out of 10

The population, number 
of CCTV cameras and 
number of carparking 
spaces for each town are 
quoted in brackets.

P
age 15



P
age 16

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Review of Towns and Villages
	Review of Towns and Villages - Appendix (scrutiny review report)
	Review of Towns and Villages - Appendix A
	Review of Towns and Villages - Appendix B


